replaces petition filed on 1/30/19

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/20/2019 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 96800-4

[Court of Appeals No. 76613-9-I]

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DAVID L. BUTLER and ELIZABETH BUTLER, and their marital community, and THE ROBERT LARSON AUTOMOTIVE GROUP, INC., a Washington corporation, d/b/a LARSON TOYOTA,

Respondents,

٧.

ADA MOTORS, INC., d/b/a BURIEN TOYOTA, a Washington Corporation,

Petitioner.

CORRECTED PETITION FOR REVIEW

MASTERS LAW GROUP, P.L.L.C.
Kenneth W. Masters, WSBA 22278
Shelby R. Frost Lemmel, WSBA 33099
241 Madison Avenue North
Bainbridge Island, WA 98110
(206) 780-5033
ken@appeal-law.com

INTRODUCTION

This Petition offers the Court an opportunity to address serious injustices arising under its decisions in *Burnet v. Spokane***Ambulance*, 131 Wn.2d 484, 933 P.2d 1036 (1997) and **Jones v. **City of Seattle*, 179 Wn.2d 322, 314 P.3d 380 (2013). Specifically, applying **Burnet* to excluding witnesses first identified during trial under a **Jones* harmless-error analysis shifts both the burden and **even the sanction* to the injured party, Respondent Burien Toyota.

In a prior trial, a jury found that Burien Toyota's client list is a trade secret and that Appellants David Butler and Larson Toyota misappropriated it. After a remand for retrial of unjust enrichment damages, a second jury found that Butler and Larson willfully and maliciously misappropriated the trade secret and awarded damages.

The Court of Appeals reversed the jury's verdict and remanded for a *third* trial. *ADA Motors, Inc. v. Butler*, No. 76613-9-I (Dec. 31, 2018) ("*ADA II*"). It contradicted its own prior decision in the same case, No. 70047-2-I (Aug. 18, 2014) ("*ADA I*") and other precedents. This published opinion, including its advisory opinions on jury instructions, damages, and attorney fees, threatens to undermine the Uniform Trade Secrets Act (UTSA) and discourages efforts to protect trade secrets. This Court should grant review.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Is this Court's 5-4 **Jones** decision requiring trial courts to conduct a **Burnet** analysis on the record when a party suddenly discloses unidentified witnesses during trial both incorrect and harmful, obligating this Court to correct its decision?
- 2. Did the Court of Appeals err in failing to find that excluding four witnesses first identified during trial is harmless error in relation to the jury's willful and malicious misappropriation finding?
- 3. Does the Court of Appeals' advisory opinion on instructing the jury under the UTSA regarding "sales attributable to the use of a trade secret" conflict with other appellate decisions and even the appellate court's own prior decision in this case?
- 4. Does the Court of Appeals' advisory opinion on instructing the jury under the UTSA regarding "malicious" misappropriation conflict with other appellate decisions?
- 5. Does the Court of Appeals' advisory opinion on the loadstar fee award undermine the UTSA's purpose to encourage plaintiffs to bring USTA claims and conflict with a great deal of appellate precedent?

FACTS RELEVANT TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

A. The first jury determined that Butler misappropriated Burien Toyota's trade secrets, but found no damages due to an instructional error.

David Butler began working at Burien Toyota after he retired from a long career as a Nordstrom salesman. *ADA I* at 2.¹ He brought a list of his Nordstrom customers with him to Burien Toyota and gave it to Sobel & Associates, a third-party direct marketer for the sales people. *Id.* Burien Toyota allowed Butler to select customers from its database for participation in Sobel's direct-marketing program. *Id.*

After eight years, Butler left Burien Toyota and began working for Larson Toyota ("Larson"). *Id.* He took a list of customers with him: the "Sobel list." *Id.* At Larson, Butler contacted everyone on the Sobel list. *Id.* Burien Toyota sued Butler and Larson under various theories, but the case went to (the first) trial solely on trade secrets. *Id.*

By special verdict, the first jury found that the Sobel list was Burien Toyota's "trade secret" and that Larson and Butler misappropriated it. *Id.* at 2-3. But it awarded \$0 in damages without reaching willful and deliberate misappropriation. *Id.* at 3. Burien Toyota appealed, raising an instructional error on damages. *Id.*

¹ The facts stated here are largely taken from the appellate decisions in **ADA I** and **II**, which are attached to this Petition as App. A & B.

B. ADA I reversed, holding that Burien Toyota must establish sales, while Butler and Larson must prove any portion of the sales not attributable to the trade secret.

In "a trade secrets claim alleging unjust enrichment, the plaintiff has the initial burden of establishing the defendant's sales, and then the burden shifts to the defendant to establish any portion of the sales not attributable to the trade secret and any expenses to be deducted in determining net profits." *ADA I* at 4 & n. 8 (citing *Petters v. Williamson & Assoc., Inc.*, 151 Wn. App. 154, 165, 210 P.3d 1048 (2009) (quoting RESTATEMENT (THIRD) OF UNFAIR COMPETITION § 45, *com. f* ("RTUC § 45, *com. f*") at 516-17 (1995)). This "places on the party in possession of the relevant information — the defendant — the burden of demonstrating which portion, if any, of the revenue obtained through the transfer of a trade secret was not, in fact, attributable to the transfer." *Id.*

But the first trial court shifted the initial burden of proof to Burien Toyota, requiring it to show "damages from sales attributable to the use of a trade secret." *Id.* Reversing and remanding for a second trial, the *ADA I* court held that "plaintiff's initial burden in proving unjust enrichment for trade secret misappropriation is to prove only 'sales." *Id.* at 7.

C. On remand, the trial court excluded four of Larson's latedisclosed witnesses, and the jury found willful and malicious misappropriation and damages.

On remand, Burien Toyota produced a list of 412 matches between its database and an updated Larson sales list. *ADA II* at 3. Burien Toyota sought over \$1.7 million in past damages, and the same in future damages, for total damages over \$3.5 million. *Id*.

Pretrial, Larson listed 55 potential lay witnesses, reserved "the right" to call anyone Burien Toyota listed, and even listed the "412 individuals" on the match list. BR 22-23 (citing CP 1158-59). Larson never narrowed its list. *Id.* (citing CP 1487, 1536-37; RP 985-86).

But at trial, Larson argued that only five customers purchased cars at both dealerships. BA 18. Larson claimed that it had contacted four witnesses on the match list — Banfill, Brambila, Dunne, and Galang. BA 18-19. On the seventh day of trial, Larson said it would call Banfill. BR 23 (citing RP 1071-72). The court sustained Burien Toyota's objection, noting its prior ruling that Larson could not call witnesses it failed to disclose. *Id.* at 23-24. Unfortunately, it did not conduct a *Burnet* analysis on the record.

The jury returned a verdict for Burien Toyota, finding Butler and Larson's misappropriations willful and malicious, and awarding \$12,496.12 as "attributable to the use of a trade secret." **ADA II** at 4

(citing CP 2384). Applying the UTSA (RCW 19.108.030) the trial court doubled the jury's award. *Id.* Applying RCW 19.108.040, it also awarded fees of \$610,071.90 to Burien Toyota. *Id.* at 16.

D. On appeal, Burien Toyota conceded that the trial court erred in failing to conduct a *Burnet* analysis on the record when it excluded four witnesses first disclosed during trial, while preserving its arguments that *Jones* is incorrect and harmful and that any error was harmless.

On appeal, Burien Toyota conceded that the trial court's failure to make *Burnet* findings on the record "is reversible error as to the damages award under *Jones*." BR 22; *ADA II* at 5. Burien Toyota argued harmless error, both generally, and specifically as to the willful and malicious misappropriation finding. *ADA II* at 5. But the appellate court shifted the burden to Burien Toyota to establish harmless error, rather than placing the burden on Larson to show prejudice arising from the error it raised. *Id.* at 5-6. That inverted analysis arises from incorrect and harmful holdings in *Jones*, discussed *infra*. Burien Toyota preserved its right to raise this issue. BR 27-28. Only this Court can correct *Jones*.

E. The appellate court reversed itself *sub silentio*, stating that plaintiffs now must prove sales attributable to a misappropriation, rather than just sales.

Offering an unnecessary advisory opinion on remand, the ADA II court opined that the UTSA jury instruction must require Burien Toyota to prove "sales attributable to the trade secret." *ADA*II at 7-9. As further discussed *infra*, this is directly contrary to *Petters*,

RTUC § 45, *com. f*, and even its own decision in *ADA I*.

F. The appellate court shifted the burden to Burien Toyota to provide a perfect instruction on "malicious," ignoring that Larson's proposed instruction was redundant and legally incorrect.

In a second advisory opinion, the court opined the "malicious" instruction (Inst. 9) must include "ill will or improper motive." **ADA II** at 10-15. The appellate court failed to acknowledge that Larson did not proffer a correct instruction. *Id.*; see BR 16-19. It also failed to recognize that Inst. 8 (on "willful" — which the appellate court found correct) and Inst. 9 ("without just cause or excuse") together permitted Larson to argue its theory of the case. See BR 19-21.

REASONS THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW

A. This Court's 5-4 Jones decision requiring trial courts to conduct a Burnet analysis on the record when a party suddenly discloses unidentified witnesses during trial is both incorrect and harmful, obligating this Court to correct its holding. (RAP 13.4(b)(4))

This Court's 5-4 decision in *Jones* is both incorrect and harmful. *See, e.g., In re Stranger Creek & Trib.*, 77 Wn.2d 649, 466 P.2d 508 (1970) (overruling two longstanding precedents as incorrect and harmful, while holding that *stare decisis* is not absolute); BR 27-28. Requiring trial courts to conduct a *Burnet*

analysis on the record when a defendant first discloses witnesses during trial results in great confusion and usually, great injustice. This Court should grant review to correct this situation.

While *Jones* affirmed the jury's verdict 9-0, the Court split on whether *Burnet* applies during trial. *Compare Jones*, 179 Wn.2d at 340-41 (court abused its discretion in failing to make some *Burnet* findings) (Gordon McCloud, J., writing for four Justices and a *pro tem* Judge — Justice Wiggins recused) with id. at 372 (no abuse of discretion in "requiring a party who discloses witnesses after the beginning of trial to show good cause why the witnesses should be allowed to testify") (González J., writing for four Justices). The Concurrence puts the burden where it belongs: on the violator.

The injustice here is patent. Burien Toyota successfully proved a trade secret and its misappropriation in the first trial. It appealed an instructional error requiring Burien Toyota to prove not just sales – as *Petters*, the RTUC § 45, *com. f*, and *ADA I* require – but "damages from sales attributable to the use of a trade secret." Burien Toyota succeeded, and on remand also proved that Butler and Larson's misappropriation was willful and malicious, receiving damages and fees. Two trials, one appeal, three victories.

Yet solely due to the so-called *Burnet* error arising from Larson's unconscionable trial tactics blatantly violating court rules, Burien Toyota now faces a *third* trial – this time under a very similar jury instruction to the one that *ADA I* found prejudicial error. As the *Jones* Concurrence correctly recognized, there is little doubt that Larson's violations should result in sanctions *against Larson*; but here, the Court of Appeals has managed to sanction *Burien Toyota* for them. This topsy-turvy "justice" is incorrect and harmful.

Many courts have struggled with *Burnet* over the last two decades.² But *Jones* is just five years old; it has already been distinguished three times (two of which are published opinions); and it has been "followed" only 15 times.³ Of those 15 decisions, only five are precedential published opinions. Two of those are dependency cases, discussed *infra*. The other three are *Farah v. Hertz Transp., Inc.*, 196 Wn. App. 171, 383 P.3d 552 (2016); *Farrow v. Alfa Laval, Inc.*, 179 Wn. App. 652, 319 P.3d 861 (2014); and this Court's *Keck v. Collins*, 184 Wn.2d 358, 357 P.3d 1080 (2015).

² LEXIS lists 256 citing decisions, with 19 decisions "distinguishing" it, and 65 decisions "following" it.

³ Again, these are LEXIS numbers covering the 61 times **Jones** is "cited."

In *Farah*, the trial court excluded a trial exhibit on improper grounds. In *dicta*, the *Farah* court raised *Burnet* and *Jones sua sponte*, reaching the dubious conclusion that excluding one trial exhibit was a "severe sanction" triggering *Burnet*. 196 Wn. App. at 183. The self-evident error in this analysis was confirmed when the appellate court found harmless error, where the exhibit was merely cumulative. Reason dictates that excluding one cumulative trial exhibit cannot be a "severe sanction" under *Burnet*.

In *Farrow*, the appellate court again raised *Burnet* and *Jones* sua sponte in dicta, confirming a concession that a ruling excluding evidence could not be an alternative ground to affirm because no *Burnet* analysis was done. 179 Wn. App. at 664 n.8. This "springing" sua sponte *Burnet* analysis, while not truly significant in *Farrow*, could be devastating for parties caught unawares.

In *Keck*, this Court held that *Burnet* applies to striking an expert declaration on summary judgment. While many trial lawyers and judges were apparently surprised by this holding, it followed relatively easily from *Blair v. TA-Seattle E. No. 176*, 171 Wn.2d 342, 347-48, 254 P.3d 797 (2011) (applying *Burnet* to a court striking an expert witness, and *then* granting summary judgment).

But *Keck* failed to perform the harmless error analysis required in *Jones*. This further undermined uniformity in the law.

The *Jones* harmless error analysis is a source of confusion. As in *Keck*, the appellate court simply omitted any harmless-error analysis in *Porter v. Kirkendoll*, 5 Wn. App. 2d 686, 421 P.3d 1036 (2018). And in *Dependency of M.P.*, the court stated that it could not determine whether the exclusion of testimony was harmless, yet it reversed the judgment due to the absence of *Burnet* findings. 185 Wn. App. 108, 118, 340 P.3d 908 (2014).

Cases like these expose flaws in the **Jones** harmless-error regime. Normally, the party whose evidence was excluded would be required to make an offer of proof to preserve the error. And a party claiming a **Burnet** error should also have to object *in the trial court* to the absence of **Burnet** findings. But **Burnet** makes the exclusion a per se abuse of discretion, and **Jones** looks only at harmless error, so the **Dependency of M.P.** court failed to even notice that the winning party had failed to preserve any error.

Compare this with *Dependency of Lee*, 200 Wn. App. 414, 404 P.3d 575 (2017). There, the trial court refused to hear from an expert first disclosed on the ninth day of trial during the first (fact-finding) phase of the trial, but agreed to hear from her during the

second (dispositional) phase. 200 Wn. App. at 430-31. The party whose expert was excluded made an offer of proof. *Id.* at 431. The appellate court found a *Burnet* error and declined to hold it harmless, where the trial court discounted the expert's phase-two testimony based on its phase-one findings. *Id.* at 433.

Two dependencies, two reversals, totally opposite reasoning. The unpublished decisions betray even greater disarray, but neither time nor space permit full discussion here. Applying *Burnet during trial* places an enormous burden on trial judges, while relieving the very parties who commit pretrial disclosure violations from their duty to preserve the error – and *rewarding* them with a new trial instead of sanctioning them. This Court should grant review.

B. The Court of Appeals erroneously failed to hold that excluding four witnesses first identified during trial was harmless error as to the jury's willful and malicious misappropriation finding. (RAP 13.4(b)(2) & (4))

Even assuming that *Jones* is correct and harmless, it requires a correct harmless-error analysis. 179 Wn.2d at 338. Here, the appellate court failed to look at whether Butler and Larson could establish prejudice, instead requiring *Burien Toyota* to show harmless error. Again, justice is turned on its head.

Burien Toyota conceded error in failing to make *Burnet* findings solely as to damages.⁴ But nothing about the four absent witnesses' testimony could possibly have affected the jury's verdict that *the misappropriation* was willful and deliberate. *See*, *e.g.*, RCW 19.108.030 ("If willful and malicious misappropriation exists, the court may award exemplary damages"); RCW 19.108.040 ("If . . . willful and malicious misappropriation exists, the court may award reasonable attorney's fees"). The excluded witnesses knew nothing about the misappropriation: Butler and Larson took the Sobel List without their knowledge long before they bought their cars.

Burien Toyota's only trial theory on willful and malicious misappropriation was that *Butler and Larson knew they were stealing Burien Toyota's trade secrets* because *Larson protects its own customer list* as a trade secret. The jury agreed. Yet the appellate court created a new theory: that the way Butler and Larson *used* the trade secrets is somehow relevant and that the excluded witnesses *might* have something to say about *that*, so their exclusion was not harmless! Injustice reigns.

⁴ Larson inferred that the jury's verdict awarded damages for sales to the four excluded witnesses, where the total damages closely approximate four times Burien Toyota's per-sale damages request.

Reversing the jury's verdict that Butler and Larson willfully and maliciously misappropriated Burien Toyota's trade secret conflicts with any known harmless-error analysis, including that in *Jones* itself. This Court should grant review to correct this conflicting, erroneous, and unjust published opinion.

C. The Court of Appeals' advisory opinion on instructing the jury under the UTSA regarding "sales attributable to the use of a trade secret" conflicts with other appellate decisions and even the appellate court's own prior decision in this case. (RAP 13.4(b)(2))

Although not required to do so, the Court of Appeals offered an advisory opinion on how to instruct the jury under the UTSA regarding "sales attributable to the use of the trade secret." **ADA II** at 7-9. This advice conflicts with other decisions and even **ADA I**. This Court should grant review.

As explained *supra*, *Petters*, the RTUC § 45, *com. f.*, and *ADA I*, required Burien Toyota "to prove only 'sales." *ADA I* at 7. But *ADA II* contradicted this authority, and its own prior opinion, requiring Burien Toyota to prove "sales attributable to the misappropriation." *ADA II* at 9. *Petters*, 151 Wn. App. at 164-65, asks this question:

[O]nce these things [a trade secret and its misappropriation] are established, how is the burden of proving the proper amount of restitutionary unjust enrichment damages allocated as between the plaintiff and defendant?

Petters answers with RTUC § 45, com. f (id.):

The plaintiff has the burden of establishing the defendant's sales; the defendant has the burden of establishing any portion of the sales not attributable to the trade secret and any expenses to be deducted in determining net profits. [Emphasis added.]

Consistent with *Petters*, RTUC § 45, *com. f*, and WPI 351.01, the trial court gave Inst. 7 (CP 2198, in relevant part):

Burien Toyota *claims* that as a result of the misappropriation of the trade secret, Mr. Butler and/or Larson Toyota have been unjustly enriched.

On the claim of unjust enrichment resulting from the misappropriated trade secret, Burien Toyota has the burden of proving the following proposition:

That, <u>as a result of the misappropriation of the trade secret</u>, Mr. Butler and/or Larson Toyota received money or benefits that in justice and fairness belong to Burien Toyota. Plaintiff has the initial burden of proving defendants' sales. The burden then shifts to Mr. Butler and/or Larson Toyota to establish any portion of the sales not attributable to the trade secret and any expenses to be deducted in determining net profits. [Emphases ours.]

This instruction says <u>three times</u> that Burien Toyota has the burden to prove that "as a result of the misappropriation of the trade secret," Larson was unjustly enriched. Indeed, the trial court simply joined provisions from Larson's own proposed Inst. 6, and *Petters*' adopted RTUC § 45, *com. f*, in creating Inst. 7. See CP 1600. And the Special Verdict Form *expressly* required the jury to find *only* "profits on sales attributable to the use of the trade secret." CP 2222.

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