FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/30/2019 10:35 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 96800-4

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ADA MOTORS, INC., d/b/a BURIEN TOYOTA, a Washington Corporation,

Plaintiff-Petitioner,

v.

DAVID L. BUTLER and ELIZABETH BUTLER, and their marital community, and THE ROBERT LARSON AUTOMOTIVE GROUP, INC., a Washington Corporation, d/b/a LARSON TOYOTA,

Defendants-Respondents.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Suzanne Kelly Michael, WSBA No. 14072 Matthew J. Macario, WSBA No. 26522 FISHER PHILLIPS LLP 1201 Third Avenue, Suite 2750 Seattle, Washington 98101 Telephone: (206) 682-2308

Facsimile: (206) 682-7908

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

David Butler left a successful, 30-year career as a Nordstrom salesperson to sell cars at Burien Toyota. RP 525-26. He brought a list of his Nordstrom customers, numbering in the thousands, to Burien. RP 526-27, 1309. He gave that list to Sobel & Associates, a third-party marketer hired to manage the list to assist the salespersons. Butler paid Sobel \$500/month to manage the list. RP 508, 528, 533-34. During his employment at Burien, Butler paid Sobel a total of \$15,000. RP 524.

After eight years, Butler left Burien and began selling cars at Larson Toyota. He took a copy of the customer list to Larson, reflecting the persons to whom he had sold cars at Burien. RP 512, 514, 536-37, 543-44, 1302-05. Since Butler had paid Sobel thousands of dollars to manage the list, he mistakenly believed it belonged to him. RP 523-24. Larson contacted customers on the list once, either by e-mail or letter. RP 513-14, 1310.

A few weeks later, Burien directed Larson to stop using the list. RP 1087-88, 1309-11. Larson promptly did so and marked the customers on the list as "dead clients." RP 513, 1088, 1311.

B. Burien sued Larson and Butler for misappropriating the customer list. While the first jury found Larson had misappropriated a trade secret, it awarded zero damages.

Burien sued Larson and Butler for trade-secret misappropriation. The jury found that the customer list was a trade secret and that Larson and Butler had misappropriated it. It awarded zero damages. *ADA I*, at 3.

C. ADA I reversed on an instructional error and remanded for a new trial on damages.

Burien raised one issue on appeal, arguing that the unjust-enrichment instruction misstated its burden of proof. *ADA I*, at 3. The trial court had instructed the jury that Burien had "the initial burden of proving *damages from sales* attributable to the use of a trade secret." *Id.* at 4 (emphasis added). The Court of Appeals reversed on instructional error and held that inserting the term "damages" in the instruction misstated the law by requiring Burien "to prove something beyond sales" attributable to the use of a trade secret. *Id.* at 6.

D. On remand, Burien offered a damages calculation claiming millions of dollars in lost sales, based on a sales list. Burien did not call a single Larson customer to corroborate that they were lured away from Burien by Butler and Larson.

On remand, contentious discovery ensued. Larson repeatedly asked Burien for information on its claimed damages of \$3.5 million. *ADA II*, at 3. Because of Burien's failure to produce timely discovery, the trial court compelled Burien to produce all documents related to persons it claimed were its customers who were later sold cars by Larson. CP 1061, 1063. With just two months before the second trial, Burien finally produced a list

of 412 sales it claimed Larson made to Burien's customers. *ADA II*, at 3; CP 1027-28.

Burien did not call any customers from the list to testify. It offered no evidence that any of Larson's sales were attributable to Larson's use of the list, beyond pointing to the list of overlapping customers and implying that Larson's sales should be attributed to its mere possession of the list.

By contrast, Larson presented testimony from six persons whose name appeared on the list of 412 sales. Many of these witnesses testified that they had never done any business with Burien and did not know why they were on the list. RP 1075-76, 1243-48, 1256-57. Others testified that they had bought cars or had service work done at both dealerships, but their decision to work with Larson and Butler was not because Larson and Butler had solicited them. RP 1217-21, 1224-28, 1234-39.

E. In reviewing the sales list, Larson identified only five Larson customers who fit the profile of someone who may have been lured away from Burien through exploitation of the customer list that Butler brought with him to Larson. But the trial court barred Larson from calling four of the five customers based on a violation of a witness-disclosure requirement. The court failed to address the *Burnet* factors. The one customer allowed to testify rebutted Burien's claim that he had been lured away to Larson.

Larson identified only five customers who had bought cars from Butler at both dealerships. RP 1339-40, 1368-69. The trial court allowed only one of those customers to testify and excluded the four others because they had not been listed by name on the pre-trial joint statement of evidence. RP 1071-73; KCLCR 4(k). The trial court did not consider *Burnet*. The

one customer allowed to testify told the jury that his decision to buy from Larson had nothing to do with any solicitation from Larson or Butler. RP 1135-38. The four witnesses who the trial court excluded filed declarations attesting that Larson and Butler had not solicited them before buying their cars at Larson. CP 2387, 2390, 2393, 2396 (attached as Appendix A).

F. The jury in the first trial did not make a finding that Larson's misappropriation had been willful and malicious. The Uniform Trade Secrets Act requires a showing of both willful and malicious conduct before exemplary damages and attorney's fees may be awarded. The trial court instructed the jury that malicious means "without just cause or excuse." Larson excepted to this instruction.

The trial court proposed to instruct the jury on the definition of malicious as "without just cause or excuse." CP 2200. Larson objected and argued the trial court's proposed instruction was "overly simplistic" and failed to convey "an element of evil, improper, [or] wicked conduct, [or] some kind of motive that's involved in a malicious standard." RP 1537. Larson argued that the trial court's instruction "minimize[d] the meaning of the term and the burden that is required to meet it." RP 1537.

Larson proposed a correct instruction on the definition of "malicious." CP 1602. Over Larson's objection, the trial court instructed the jury that malicious means "without just cause or excuse." CP 2200; RP 1550.

G. The jury returned a verdict of \$12,496.12 in damages. That award matched multiplying Burien's net damages per sale number by four—the four sales that Larson would have rebutted if allowed to call the four witnesses excluded by the trial court. Larson proved that all four witnesses would have rebutted Burien's damages claim if they had testified.

The jury entered a verdict for Burien, finding that Butler and Larson's misappropriation was willful and malicious and awarding Burien \$12,496.12 in damages. CP 2222. The trial court awarded Burien exemplary damages for the jury's willful and malicious finding, for a total damages award of \$24,992. CP 2829. It also awarded Burien \$610,071.90 in fees but refused to grant Burien injunctive relief. CP 2833.

H. ADA II remanded for a new trial on damages because of the trial court's Burnet violation. To guide the trial court on remand and —hopefully—to avoid a third appeal in this case, ADA II addressed three additional issues raised by Larson on appeal, including applying the legislative mandate that Washington's version of the UTSA be interpreted to promote a uniform body of trade-secret law.

Because the trial court excluded four witnesses without first applying the *Burnet* factors, the Court of Appeals remanded for a new trial on damages and also for whether the misappropriation was willful and malicious. *ADA II*, at 1. It rejected Burien's argument that the *Burnet* error was harmless, because the declarations Larson submitted showed the four excluded witnesses would have uniformly testified that "they bought cars from Larson for reasons unrelated to the misappropriation." *ADA II*, at 5; *see also* CP 2386-96.

The Court of Appeals also addressed several additional issues to guide the trial court on remand. It articulated the language to be used in a

damages instruction. *ADA II*, at 7-9. It articulated the language to be used in an instruction on the definition of "malicious." *Id.* at 10-15. And it raised concerns about the "billing judgment" of Burien's counsel "request[ing] fees nearly 50 times as large as the amount [of damages] recovered" and ordered the trial court to address this issue should Burien be entitled to a fees award on remand. *Id.* at 15-16.

IV. REASONS REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. This Court's decision in *Jones v. City of Seattle*, requiring trial courts to conduct a *Burnet* analysis on the record before excluding witness testimony during trial, and requiring a party assigning error to a failure to do so to show harmless error before granting relief from such error, does not warrant revisiting by this Court. The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that the trial court's failure to conduct a *Burnet* balancing before excluding Larson's witnesses was harmful.

Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance, 131 Wn.2d 484, 933 P.2d 1036 (1997), first declared that before a trial court may exclude witnesses as a sanction for a discovery violation, it must consider on the record (1) the willfulness of the discovery violation, (1) whether the complaining party has been prejudiced, and (3) whether a lesser sanction than exclusion is sufficient. After a series of decisions addressing the scope of what has come to be known as the requirement to balance the Burnet factors, this Court held in Jones v. City of Seattle, 179 Wn.2d 322, 314 P.3d 380 (2013), that these requirements also applied during trial. This Court also held that any error during trial about a failure to balance the Burnet factors could not be a basis for ordering a new trial, if the Burnet error was harmless. Jones, 179 Wn.2d at 356.

Burien asks this Court to grant review, gut the central holding of *Jones*, and allow trial courts during trial to exclude witnesses without considering the *Burnet* factors. This Court will "not lightly set aside precedent." *State v. Johnson*, 188 Wn.2d 742, 756, 399 P.3d 507 (2017). To do so, this Court requires a "clear showing" that the precedent is incorrect and harmful. *Id.* at 756-57 (citing *In re Rights to Waters of Stranger Creek*, 77 Wn.2d 649, 653, 466 P.2d 508 (1970)).

Burien asserts that applying the *Burnet* factors during trial has unduly burdened and confused trial courts. But Burien never explains precisely what is so burdensome or confusing about requiring a trial court to consider willfulness, prejudice, and lesser sanctions before imposing the harsh sanction of excluding a witness—testimony that by definition must be relevant to resolving the case on the merits, because if it were not, there would be no need to resort to a sanction to exclude it. Tellingly, the trial court in this very case acknowledged, in addressing a separate sanction issue, that "trial courts in King County now receive hundreds of *Burnet* motions to exclude witnesses, almost all of which are denied and properly so." RP 1014. Burien offers no proof to substantiate its claim of undue burden or confusion.

Burien treats the *Burnet* balancing requirement as if it always plays out to the offending party's benefit, and unfairly so. But *Burnet* merely ensures that only in the most egregious of cases, such as "willful intentional nondisclosure, willful violation of a court order, or other unconscionable conduct," will a party's late-disclosed evidence be excluded as a discovery

sanction. *Burnet*, 131 Wn.2d at 494. And that is as it should be, given this state's long-standing policy favoring "resolution of cases on their merits." *See Lane v. Brown & Haley*, 81 Wn. App. 102, 106, 912 P.2d 1040 (1996) (cited with approval in *Burnet*, 131 Wn.2d at 498). *Burnet* furthers that policy by requiring trial courts to consider willfulness, prejudice, and lesser sanctions before excluding evidence relevant to a party's ability either to defend itself or to present its case on the merits.

As stated, Burien has offered no evidence that trial courts have actually been burdened or confused by having to follow the Burnet balancing requirements during trial. At most, Burien has identified a grab bag of Washington appellate decisions that show there may be an issue with how our appellate courts understand their role in reviewing the Burnet issues that come before them. For instance, in Farah v. Hertz Transportation, Inc., 196 Wn. App. 171, 383 P.3d 552 (2016), and Farrow v. Alfa Laval, Inc., 179 Wn. App. 652, 319 P.3d 861 (2014), the Court of Appeals apparently presumed to dispose of cases on *Burnet* grounds without giving the parties the opportunity to address those issues. While these decisions certainly present concerns about the willingness of the Court of Appeals to proceed in disregard of RAP 12.1's general mandate, which provides that Washington appellate courts should "decide a case on the basis of issues set forth by the parties in their briefs," this case does not implicate that concern. As for *Keck v. Collins*, 184 Wn.2d 358, 357 P.3d 1080 (2015), and Porter v. Kirkendoll, 5 Wn. App. 2d 686, 421 P.3d 1036 (2018), both involved summary judgments, and this Court previously held in Blair v. TaSeattle E. No. 176, 171 Wn.2d 342, 254 P.3d 797 (2011), that a harmless-error analysis is not required when reviewing a *Burnet* issue that arises during summary judgment. See Blair, 171 Wn.2d at 351 n.5.

Here Larson met its burden on appeal to show that the trial court's decision to exclude evidence without a *Burnet* analysis was harmful. The trial court made no finding that Larson's trial tactics were "unconscionable" or that Larson "blatantly" violated court rules. *PFR*, at 9. Burien's theory of damages was that the persons on the list of customers Butler took with him to Larson were its customers, and that Larson had been unjustly enriched by making sales attributable to this misappropriation. Yet despite repeated requests, Burien failed to turn over its claimed 412 "matches" or "hits" of customers until two months before trial; Larson promptly began trying to contact these 412 persons, but Burien's list had missing, incomplete, or incorrect contact information for many of the persons identified on the list. RP 1020, 1323. By the deadline for filing trial-witness lists and the joint statement of the evidence, Larson had not been able to contact every person on the list. So Larson reserved the right to call any of the 412 persons identified on the list Burien provided a month earlier to testify at trial—just as Burien had done. CP 1157-63, 1159, 1168-73, 1537.

Ultimately, Larson was able to identify only five persons—out of the 412—who had bought cars from both dealerships.¹ RP 1368-69. Of those five persons, Larson was able to name only one on its joint statement

 $^{^{1}}$ Of course, Burien had to have known of these five persons' identities when it filed its complaint. CP 2248, 2278-81.

of the evidence. The trial court allowed that person to testify, but excluded the four others because they were not named individually, and did so without conducting the required *Burnet* balancing. The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that this decision was harmful. All of these witnesses would have uniformly testified that they decided to buy cars from Larson for reasons unrelated to their having previously bought cars from Burien. And the amount of the jury's damages award strongly suggested that it was made only because the jury did not get a chance to hear these four witnesses discredit any notion that their purchases were somehow related to the misappropriated customer list.²

Jones extended the *Burnet* balancing requirement to trial in 2013, tempering its impact with a harmless-error requirement. In a few more years' time, perhaps Burien's claims of undue burden and confusion will be validated. For now, they are just complaints, unsupported by the kind of "clear showing" that could warrant this Court's attention.

_

² The record here distinguishes this case from the two dependency cases cited by Burien. The Court of Appeals in *Dependency of M.P.* was unable to do a harmless-error analysis because the record did not indicate the nature of the testimony expected to be elicited from the excluded witnesses. 185 Wn. App. 108, 118, 340 P.3d 908 (2014). And the Court of Appeals in *Dependency of Lee* concluded that the exclusion of the parents' expert during the fact-finding phase of the trial was not harmless because the trial court discounted the expert's dispositional-phase testimony based on its earlier findings. 200 Wn. App. 414, 432, 404 P.3d 575 (2017). Here the nature of the testimony the four witnesses would have presented was made clear by Larson, and the Court of Appeals correctly concluded that their exclusion was harmful.

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